ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
JAN 25 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Allendale County
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT LEE MILLER, III,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001347

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the court err in sentencing Appellant to fifty-five years imprisonment, a *de facto* life sentence, for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court failed to place the burden of proving Appellant irreparably corrupt beyond a reasonable doubt on the state, and where the court did not find Appellant was irreparably corrupt, which is a finding that is necessary to sentence a juvenile to a *de facto* life sentence pursuant to the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

II. Did the trial judge violate Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution by permitting the introduction of statements he gave during custodial interrogation where the totality of the circumstances, including, but not limited to Appellant's age, Appellant's low intellectual functioning, and the promises and threats issued by law enforcement, indicated the statements were not given pursuant to a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver of his rights?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged fifteen-year old Appellant with the June 17, 2014, murder of Willie Johnson. R. 2, ll. 4-6; R. 459. Appellant was arrested along with two other juveniles – one was sixteen and one was seventeen. R. 2, ll. 7-10. Due to his age, Appellant was charged as a juvenile offender. R. 2, ll. 4-13. The state sought to transfer jurisdiction to the Court of General Sessions from the Family Court. R. 2, l. 2 – R. 7, l. 6; R. 17, ll. 10-21. On March 24, 2015, the Honorable Gerald C. Smoak, Jr., convened a hearing on the state's motion. R. 1. Isaac McDuffie Stone, III, and Christine Grefe represented the state. R. 1. Kimberly Jordan and Stephanie Smart-Gittings represented Appellant. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Smoak granted the state's motion to transfer jurisdiction to the Court of General Sessions. R. 22, l. 12 – R. 23, l. 24; R. 459.

Thereafter, on July 23, 2015, the Allendale County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2015-GS-03-0050). R. 477-478. The state, represented by Sean Thornton and Ann Fitz, called the case to trial before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury on July 11-14, 2016. R. 25-26. Smart-Gittings represented Appellant. R. 26. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 397, l. 24 – R. 398, l. 4.

On June 5, 2017, the parties re-convened before Judge McIntosh for sentencing. R. 401. Smart-Gittings continued to represent Appellant, and Brian Hollen represented the state. R. 402. At the conclusion of the hearing, which included only argument by the lawyers and a colloquy between the deceased's son and the court, Judge McIntosh sentenced Appellant to fifty-five years imprisonment. R. 442, l. 25 – R. 443, l. 1; R. 479.

ARGUMENT

I. The court erred in sentencing Appellant to fifty-five years imprisonment, a *de facto* life sentence, for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court failed to place the burden of proving Appellant irreparably corrupt beyond a reasonable doubt on the state, and where the court did not find Appellant was irreparably corrupt, which is a finding that is necessary to sentence a juvenile to a *de facto* life sentence pursuant to the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

Relevant facts

Defense counsel argued that for the judge to sentence Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole or to a *de facto* life sentence, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant is irreparably corrupt. R. 403, l. 21 – R. 404, l. 13. Defense counsel explained the law provides a presumption that Appellant is not irreparably corrupt and

the state must overcome that presumption by proving that he is. R. 404, ll. 6-13. If the state could overcome that presumption, then the Court must consider the five factors. R. 404, ll. 6-13; R. 420, ll. 15-21. The judge refused to apply “the irreparably corrupt standard,” stating he would consider the factors only. R. 405, l. 1 – R. 406, l. 25. At the conclusion of the hearing, defense counsel objected that the judge failed to make a finding of irreparable corruption, which was necessary prior to imposition of a *de facto* life sentence. R. 443, ll. 10-19.

In arguing for a sentence of LWOP, the state focused on the facts of the crime. R. 408, l. 6 – R. 414, l. 5; R. 417, ll. 20-25; R. 431, l. 13 – R. 432, l. 10. When addressing the Miller¹ factors, the solicitor acknowledged he was not “extremely familiar” with Appellant’s background, but he explained that in his opinion “no matter how bad someone’s upbringing might be it doesn’t mean that they automatically resort to murder. There are people who overcome obstacles everyday despite how they are brought up. So, I don’t believe that that is or should be a deciding factor in the length of his sentence.” R. 409, l. 23 – R. 410, l. 5.

Defense counsel emphasized Appellant’s chronological age at the time of the crime – a mere fifteen-years old. R. 419, ll. 20-22. Appellant was “a true juvenile,” one who loved cartoons and carried a security blanket until he was twelve. R. 420, ll. 22-25. Appellant did not understand the consequences of his actions or being incarcerated. R. 421, ll. 14-17. Appellant expressed remorse for what happened. R. 422, ll. 6-7.

Appellant entered the foster care system at the age of four. R. 422, ll. 13-14. His mother physically abused him. R. 422, ll. 14-15; R. 426, ll. 6-7. Appellant lived in “several different foster cares, several different group homes.” R. 422, ll. 17-18. Appellant’s mother was neglectful – allowing her children to “walk the street all night.” R. 423, ll. 21-22. Due to their

¹ Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012).

mother's abuse of alcohol and drugs, Appellant and his siblings "raised themselves." R. 423, ll. 22-25. In six years, there were fifteen 911 calls from Appellant's mother's home. R. 5, ll. 21-23. According to the state's evidence, Appellant committed the crime with his older brother, Keshawn Bynum, and Bynum's friend, Gabriel Joyner. R. 427, ll. 12-15. Peer and familial pressures were clearly at play. R. 427, ll. 16-18. Appellant tried to protect his brother by taking the blame. R. 424, ll. 9-16; R. 427, ll. 18-21.

Due to Appellant's low intelligence, he struggled in school, requiring more individualized attention than the school system was equipped to provide. R. 422, l. 19 – R. 423, l. 1. His IQ was 76 and he had undeveloped cognitive and reasoning skills. R. 429, ll. 4-5; R. 429, ll. 11-14. He was fifteen-years old and still only in the eighth grade. R. 434, ll. 16-21. Appellant performed better academically while in DJJ due to the structured system and the opportunity for individualized lessons. R. 423, ll. 1-4. Appellant was diagnosed with ADHD and took medication until his father stopped the medication and counseling. R. 425, ll. 17-19. Appellant was very immature, rushing through activities without thinking. R. 426, ll. 14-17. Prior to the criminal charges, Appellant expressed sadness and stress. R. 426, ll. 18-20.

Appellant wanted to attend college and become a businessman. R. 425, ll. 5-7. Prior to being incarcerated, he raked yards, starting at eleven-years old. R. 425, ll. 8-10.

Appellant had limited experience with the criminal justice system, and he expressed a lack of understanding of his rights during his psychological evaluation. R. 428, ll. 5-10. Appellant "was too immature to appreciate the consequence of even being in law enforcement custody for so long all of those hours by himself late at night" during the interrogation. R. 428, ll. 18-20. In fact, Appellant went to sleep on the floor of the interrogation room after the interrogation. R. 428, ll. 20-23.

Appellant adjusted well to incarceration – he had *no* disciplinary infractions while at the county jail or while in DJJ. R. 429, l. 21 – R. 430, l. 1; R. 430, ll. 11-14; R. 441, l. 2 – R. 442, l. 7. Thus, Appellant demonstrated his ability to be rehabilitated. R. 430, ll. 2-5.

In sentencing Appellant to a *de facto* life sentence of fifty-five years, the judge acknowledged that Appellant had “little if any parental guidance” and that his older brother “seemed to influence his actions.” R. 438, ll. 17-20; R. 443, l. 1. The judge agreed that Appellant’s home environment and family weighed in favor of him because he did not have “much of an opportunity coming up.” R. 439, ll. 14-15. The judge also agreed that Appellant’s participation in the crime was the result of familial and peer pressure, explaining Appellant’s older brother was his co-defendant and the other co-defendant was an older man as well. R. 440, ll. 7-10.

The judge found the “act itself was impetuous” but determined that Appellant’s “fairly extensive record involving violence,” including an unconvicted charge, mitigated against Appellant’s impetuosity. R. 438, ll. 20-24. It was hard for the judge to fathom that someone “even somebody with a 76 IQ” could not “appreciate the risk of going in and beating an 80 something year old man to the point where his teeth scattered, his dentures were scattered around.” R. 438, l. 25 – R. 439, l. 4. In short, the judge had trouble getting over the brutality of the crime. R. 439, ll. 4-9.

The judge disagreed with defense counsel, concluding Appellant had the ability to deal with law enforcement. R. 440, ll. 11-12. The judge found no evidence, other than Appellant’s “mere age,” to indicate that Appellant was unable to understand and deal with the police. R. 440, ll. 12-18. After considering the arguments presented, Judge McIntosh sentenced Appellant to a *de facto* life sentence of fifty-five years without requiring the state to prove Appellant is

irreparably corrupt beyond a reasonable doubt and without making a finding that Appellant is irreparably corrupt. This violated the Eighth Amendment.

Discussion

“[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). Beginning with its decision in Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the Supreme Court began a steady evolution of juvenile justice jurisprudence. In Roper, the Court held death sentences for juveniles were cruel and unusual punishment. Four years later, the Court held that a LWOP sentence imposed upon a juvenile for a non-homicide offense violated the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). When presented with the question of whether mandatory life without parole (LWOP) sentences for juveniles in homicide cases violated the Eighth Amendment, the Supreme Court held they did. Miller, 567 U.S. at 479.

Not long after the Court’s opinion in Miller, our Supreme Court reviewed non-mandatory life sentences for juveniles in South Carolina through the lens of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole. Finding that “Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered,” the Court held the sentencing judge must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” and that this requirement “deserves universal application.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court held the class of petitioners in the case “and those similarly situated” were “entitled to resentencing to allow the

inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight.” *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

Following *Miller*, courts have confronted the question of what constitutes a “life without parole sentence,” particularly, considering the Court’s mandate that juvenile offenders *must* be afforded a *meaningful opportunity* for release unless there has been a finding of irreparable corruption. Additionally, courts have confronted when, if ever, a court may sentence a juvenile offender to LWOP or its functional equivalent. To answer this question, a review of the evolution of the Court’s Eighth Amendment jurisprudence as it applies to juveniles is of assistance and of import to Appellant’s appeal.

No death penalty for children

In *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569-75, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and are less deserving of the most severe punishments. Juvenile offenders are fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. *Id.* at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” *Id.* at 573.

No LWOP for children convicted of non-homicide offenses

Sixteen-year-old Terrance Graham was sentenced to LWOP for violating probation for armed burglary and attempted armed robbery of a barbeque restaurant. *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 56-57.

The Supreme Court held that “for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” Id. at 74. Just as the Court did in Roper, the Graham Court, relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor’s character deficiencies will be reformed.

Id. at 68 (internal citations omitted). The Court explained the decision was “necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile non-homicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.” Id. at 74.

The Graham Court concluded that its new categorical rule “gives all juvenile non-homicide offenders a chance to demonstrate maturity and reform.” Id. at 79. “Life in prison without the possibility of parole gives no chance for reconciliation with society, no hope.” Id. However, “[m]aturity can lead to that considered reflection which is the foundation for remorse, renewal, and rehabilitation. A young person who knows that he or she has no chance to leave prison before life’s end has little incentive to become a responsible individual.” Id. By imposing a “categorical rule against life without parole for juvenile non-homicide offenders,” the Court avoided “the perverse consequences in which the lack of maturity that led to an offender’s crime is reinforced by the prison term.” Id.

No mandatory LWOP sentences for children

In Miller, supra, the United States Supreme Court continued the evolution of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence by holding that mandatory sentences of life without parole for

juvenile homicide offenders also violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. Miller, 567 U.S. at 465. However, the Court further explained that while the decision did not foreclose imposition of a sentence without the possibility of a parole on a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense, the Court required the sentencer "to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Id. at 479-480.

The Miller Court repeatedly focused on the notion that the character traits of children are "more transitory and less fixed." Id. at 471. Children by definition lack maturity and responsibility; thus, they are more likely to act with "recklessness, impulsivity, and needless risk-taking." Id. at 471-472. The Court explained that due to the innate characteristics of children at large, there is a "great difficulty ... of distinguishing at this early age between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption." Id. at 479-480. In fact, the Court stated "incorrigibility is inconsistent with youth." Id. at 472-473. The Court emphasized the potential for reform present in all juveniles. The Court emphasized the mitigating qualities of youth and noted "[i]t is a time of immaturity, irresponsibility, 'impetuosity[,] and recklessness.'" Id. at 476 (quoting Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115 (1982)). The Court's decision created a presumption against LWOP sentences for juveniles. Specifically, the court explained that "death is different" and "children are different too." Id. at 481.

Focusing on the concept of individualized sentencing, the Court recognized "that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing." Id. at 471. Children "have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform," and therefore, "they are less deserving of the most severe punishments." Id. (quoting Graham, 560 U.S. at 68). "[T]he distinctive attributes

of youth diminish penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.” Id. at 473. As a result, “[a]n offender’s age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 76. “[I]mposition of a State’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Miller, 567 U.S. at 474.

Mandatory sentencing prevents the sentencer from considering the juvenile offender’s “chronological age and its hallmark features, among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences,” the offender’s family and home environment, the extent of the offender’s conduct in the offense and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him. Id. at 477. The Court required sentencers “to take into account how children are different and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 480. Thus, sentencing authorities *must* consider a juvenile offender’s age and consideration of such *must* be a mitigating factor.

No non-mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles & Retroactivity

In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole. According to the Court, Miller “unequivocally held that youth has a constitutional dimension when determining the appropriateness of a lifetime of incarceration with no possibility of parole.” Id. at 542, 765 S.E.2d at 576. Thus, the Court determined “an individualized sentencing proceeding before imposing a sentence of life without parole on a juvenile offender” was required. Id. Recognizing that Miller “did not expressly extend its ruling to states such as South Carolina whose sentencing scheme permits a life without parole sentence to be imposed on a juvenile offender but does not mandate it,” the

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