STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Allendale County
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v:

ROBERT LEE MILLER, III,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-001347

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 13 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

Importantly, the State asserted when appellant finally said he was done answering questions, agents stopped interviewing him and appellant's will was never overborne. (R.p.73, line 13-p.74, line 4). The State argued Johnson told appellant he was not a judge or a lawyer, so he could not promise him anything, but did tell him he might minimize his time if he cooperated. (R.p.74, line 5-p.75, line 20). The State argued under the totality of the circumstances test, it met its burden to admit the statements. (R.p.75, line 20-p.76, line 2).

In rebuttal, defense counsel argued for suppression given appellant was fifteen years old at the time he was interviewed and he was not free to leave. (R.p.75, line 15-p.76, line 2). Counsel argued appellant was coerced into giving the statements by Johnson who intimidated him, appellant was crying, there was no guardian in the room most of the time, and there were concerns about his level of intelligence. (R.p.76, line 3-p.78, line 4). Counsel also noted it appeared to her appellant was telling Johnson what he wanted to hear rather than the truth. (R.p.78, line 5-p.79, line 15). Counsel argued appellant was intimidated into giving the statements, and under the totality of the circumstances the statements were not voluntarily and intelligently given. (R.p.79, line 16-p.80, line 11).

The trial court took the matter under advisement to consider the arguments, and ruled the following morning. (R.p.80, lines 12-20). The court considered the *Denno* testimony under the totality of the circumstances, looking to determine whether, by a preponderance of the evidence, appellant's statement appeared voluntary and noted age was just one factor to consider. (R.p.84, lines 7-24). The court ruled the statements were admissible under this standard because: (1) there was no undue police coercion; (2) while appellant's formal education level was limited to

the eighth grade due to his age at the time, he was street smart and the interview indicated he was trying to set up an alibi; (3) police did not misrepresent the situation to appellant, threaten him or promise leniency for his cooperation; and, (4) any isolation was minor as appellant indicated he was fine talking to the agents. (R.p.84, line 25-p.88, line 15). The court ruled the statements were admissible at trial subject to objection and it was up to the jury to decide if the State met its burden of proving voluntariness beyond a reasonable doubt. (R.p.88, lines 16-20).

Defense counsel renewed the motion to suppress at trial and it was denied. (2016 R.p.215, line 11-p.217, line 10). Williams, Johnson, and Merrell then testified to substantially similar information as they did during the *Denno* hearing. (R.p.266, line 19-p.277, line 15; p.282, line 5-p.310, line 11; p.313, line 18-p.323, line 7). The statements were admitted subject to the trial court's prior rulings. (R.p.319, lines 10-18). Further, defense counsel renewed the motion to suppress the statements at the end of the State's case which the court again denied. (R.p.336, lines 12-15).

Analysis

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). An appellate court is bound by the trial judge's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220. The appellate courts are bound by findings of fact findings in pre-trial hearings when the findings are supported by the evidence, not clearly erroneous, or controlled by error of law. *State v. Amerson*, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993).

The trial court determines the admissibility of a statement upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Washington*, 296 S.C. 54, 55, 370 S.E.2d 611, 612

(1988). The jury must determine whether the statement was freely and voluntarily given beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 55-56, 370 S.E.2d at 612. On appeal, the conclusion of the trial court as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be reversed unless governed by an abuse of discretion. *State v. Von Dohlen*, 322 S.C. 234, 242, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996). When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

Law Enforcement Did Not Coerce Appellant Into Providing Statements

A statement obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights under *Miranda*. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). If a suspect is advised of his *Miranda* rights, but chooses to make a statement, the burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his rights were voluntarily waived. *Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252. A voluntary waiver need not be express. Rather, "(1) the waiver must be 'voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception' and (2) the waiver must be 'made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.'" *State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (2010) (quoting *Berghuis v. Thompkins*, 560 U.S. 370, 382 (2010)). "In South Carolina, the test for determining whether a defendant's confession was given freely, knowingly, and voluntarily focuses upon whether the defendant's will was overborne by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession." *Moses*, 390 S.C. at 513, 702 S.E.2d at 401; *Schneekloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973).

"[E]ach case requires careful scrutiny of all the surrounding circumstances." *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 566, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164 (2007). The factors to be considered when making a voluntariness determination have been broadly defined by our courts and include: "youth of the accused, his lack of education or his low intelligence, the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights, the length of detention, the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning, and the use of physical punishment such as the deprivation of food or sleep." *Id.* at 566, 647 S.E.2d 164 (citing *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 226). Our courts have also considered the accused's background, experience, conduct, maturity, physical condition, mental health, misrepresentations by law enforcement, isolation of a minor from a parent, direct or indirect promises, repeated and prolonged questioning, and exertion of improper influence. *Moses*, 390 S.C. at 513-14, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (citing *Withrow v. Williams*, 507 U.S. 680 (1993)). Further, coercive police activity "is a necessary predicate" to finding a confession was not voluntary within the meaning of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986).

Our courts have routinely upheld juvenile and young adult confessions. *In re Tracy B.*, 391 S.C. 51, 66, 704 S.E.2d 71, 79 (Ct. App. 2010) ("A confession of a juvenile is not per se involuntary simply because it is obtained without the presence of counsel, a parent, or other interested adult.") (fourteen-year-old); *see also Pittman, supra* (twelve-year-old); *State v. Register*, 323 S.C. 471, 476 S.E.2d 153 (1996) (eighteen-year-old); *State v. Boys*, 302 S.C. 545, 397 S.E.2d 529 (1990) (seventeen-year-old); *State v. Parker*, 381 S.C. 68, 81, 671 S.E.2d 619, 622, 626 (Ct. App. 2008) (sixteen-year-old); *State v. Avery*, 374 S.C. 524, 649 S.E.2d 102 (Ct. App. 2007) (age unlisted in opinion); *In Interest of Christopher W.*, 285 S.C. 329, 329 S.E.2d 769 (Ct. App. 1985) (eleven-year-old); *but see State v. Smith*, 259 S.C. 496, 192 S.E.2d 870

(1972) (finding confession of a thirteen-year-old inadmissible because law enforcement did not repeat *Miranda* warnings immediately prior to oral confession). Youth by itself does not render a statement inadmissible. The same examination of surrounding circumstances applies even where the confessor is a juvenile. *Parker*, 381 S.C. at 72, 671 S.E.2d at 622.

Juvenile and young adult confessions have also been upheld when the defendant has confessed after enduring arguably more extreme apprehension and interrogation circumstances than are present in this case. In *Moses*, a learning disabled seventeen-year-old's custodial statement was upheld as being freely, knowingly, and voluntarily made "regardless of his age, learning disability, and separation from his mother." 390 S.C. at 515, 702 S.E.2d at 402. In that case, an officer questioned a special education student, and the Court found the record did not demonstrate any threats or a lengthy interrogation, particularly where Moses twice testified he understood his *Miranda* rights and he was not coached regarding what to say when executing his waiver. *Moses*, 390 S.C. at 515, 702 S.E.2d at 402. While "the trial court failed to specifically mention his mother's alleged request to be present during questioning," our Supreme Court did not find that factor dispositive on the issue of voluntariness. *Moses*, 390 S.C. at 515, 702 S.E.2d at 402.

Further, the voluntariness of a sixteen-year-old's confession in *Parker* was upheld on appeal when the inculpatory statement was taken after the defendant spent a night in the woods evading law enforcement and a lengthy interrogation wherein he rejected his right to invoke counsel. 381 S.C. at 81, 671 S.E.2d at 625. The questioning of Parker took approximately three and a half hours and involved multiple officers. *Id.* at 80-82, 671 S.E.2d at 624-26. At his *Denno* hearing, the defendant testified no one presented him with a written or verbal waiver of his *Miranda* rights. *Id.* at 80-82, 671 S.E.2d at 624-26. Parker did not ask for a parent to be

present, but when an officer asked whether he would like to see his father, the juvenile answered yes, and law enforcement complied. *Id.* at 77, 671 S.E.2d at 623. These factors aside, the trial court ruled Parker's statement voluntarily made, finding no invocation of Parker's right to counsel, despite asking for his father when prompted, and further finding Parker's testimony regarding the lack of *Miranda* rights not credible. *Id.* at 83-84, 671 S.E.2d at 626-27. In so ruling, the trial court focused its analysis of the totality of the circumstances surrounding Parker's confession in a manner similar to the trial judge in the case at bar. This Court upheld the voluntariness determination, focusing in part on the trial court's "opportunity in the *Denno* hearing to listen to the testimony, assess the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, view the taped portion of the confession, and weigh the evidence accordingly." *Id.* at 93, 671 S.E.2d at 632.

Moreover, nothing during the arrest and interrogation process entitles a juvenile defendant to the comfort and advice of a parent or relative in the interview room. "Although a juvenile's request for a parent may be considered when determining the voluntariness of the confession, an adult's request for someone other than an attorney does not invoke a Fifth Amendment right to speak with counsel." *State v. Register*, 323 S.C. 471, 477, 476 S.E.2d 153, 157 (1996) (citing *Fare v. Michael C.*, 442 U.S. 707 (1979) (holding a request for a non-attorney third party does not invoke a Fifth Amendment invocation of counsel during custodial police interrogation)).

The totality of the circumstances surrounding appellant's confession supports the trial court's ruling. Consider the environment of appellant's confession as told by Williams and the SLED agents. All law enforcement who interacted with appellant testified they did not threaten or coerce him, told appellant he could stop talking to them at any time, and Johnson even left the

room for a time when appellant asked him to leave. (R.pp.32-33; pp.48-51; pp.59-60). There is no evidence in the record any of the agents or Williams coerced appellant to induce his statement. *See Connelly*, 479 U.S. at 167 (holding coercive police activity "is a necessary predicate" to finding a confession was not voluntary). Also, the timing of appellant's waiver and confession were not accompanied by any indicators of a drawn-out detention. Williams testified appellant was at the police department for a couple of hours and he never asked to leave, while Johnson stated he and Merrell questioned appellant for about an hour. (R.p.42; p.50).

The record's dearth of duress is bolstered by testimony that appellant at no time asked for an attorney, never indicated he did not want to talk to investigators, or asked for his mother. (R.p.39; pp.49-50; pp.60-61). Appellant also indicated he was fine with Sabb's presence either in the room or nearby, a woman he considered like a mother. (R.p.49; pp.60-61). Appellant also did not appear to suffer from the influence of drugs or alcohol. (R.p.45; p.53; p.63). According to Williams, appellant appeared to understand the rights he was waiving and the significance of his conversation with investigators. (R.pp.29-31; pp.39-40; Supp.R.p.1). Further, appellant indicated to Williams he believed he was there about the murder, so he was clearly aware why he was there. (R.pp.33-35).

Nothing in the record indicates appellant's statements did not appear voluntary by a preponderance of the evidence. The record instead demonstrates the State met its burden during the *Denno* hearing: there exists no evidence of undue coercion, misrepresentation, concealment of the right to invoke legal counsel, or immaturity on the part of appellant. Appellant's waiver can only be construed as a deliberate choice.

Therefore, the trial court properly submitted appellant's inculpatory statements to the jury to determine whether the statement was given freely and voluntarily beyond a reasonable doubt.

Harmless Error

Any possible error in admitting the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Even where a defendant's due process rights are concerned, harmless error may apply where a consideration of the entire record lends the reviewing court to determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967). "[T]he test is whether there is a reasonable probability that the statements contributed to the defendant's conviction of the crime, or if the defendant's statements were merely cumulative." *State v. Bernotas*, 277 S.C. 106, 108-09, 283 S.E.2d 580, 581 (1981). Harmless error also applies when voluntariness is the only reasonable inference to be drawn from evidence regarding a defendant's confession. *State v. Victor*, 300 S.C. 220, 224, 387 S.E.2d 248, 50 (1989).

The statements to law enforcement were cumulative to other confessions properly admitted at trial. Appellant's friend testified appellant told him about his involvement in the murder, detailing the robbery plan and beating. (R.pp.237-241). The friend stated appellant told him the victim fought back, so they tied him up, put a bag over his head, and beat him, and further admitted to taking money and a gun. (R.pp.240-42). Tiffany Sabb (Sabb), the woman who was with appellant at the police department, also testified appellant told her he was involved with the murder. Sabb stated appellant told her the plan was not his idea, but he provided details and explained they killed him because he had seen their faces. (R.pp.247-52).

The State also presented other evidence to connect appellant to the crime, including his print found in the victim's blood on the wall and evidence the black trash bag found over the victim's head came from appellant's home. (R.pp.192-93; pp.220-23; p.227).

At the very least, the State established appellant's guilt under the theory of the hand of

one, for even if the jury determined that appellant did not act as the principal, the evidence shows he acted as an accomplice in the robbery. No rational conclusion can be reached from the evidence presented at trial which would exculpate appellant from the acts that resulted in the victim's death.

In light of the other evidence establishing appellant's guilt, it is clear the jury would have convicted appellant even if the statements given to law enforcement evidence had not been admitted at trial. Therefore, while respondent submits the trial court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and sentences of the trial court as to both issues should be affirmed.